S219534

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JOHNNY BLAINE KESNER,

Petitioner,

υ.

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF ALAMEDA,

Respondent,

SUPREME COURT

OCT 2 0 2014

Prank A. McChore Clerk,

PNEUMO ABEX, LLC,

Real Party in Interest.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE CASE NO. A136378 (CONSOLIDATED W/ A136416)

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

*LISA PERROCHET (BAR No. 132858)
ROBERT H. WRIGHT (BAR No. 155489)
CURT CUTTING (BAR No. 199906)
15760 VENTURA BOULEVARD, 18TH FLOOR
ENCINO, CALIFORNIA 91436-3000
(818) 995-0800 • FAX: (818) 995-3157
lperrochet@horvitzlevy.com
rwright@horvitzlevy.com

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Does an employer owe a duty of care to persons claiming injury from exposure to asbestos solely through off-site contact with employees who carry asbestos fibers on their work clothing, tools, vehicles or persons?
- 2. If an employer owes such a duty, is it limited to immediate family members living full-time in the home, or does a duty extend to visitors, guests, or others the employee may come into contact with?

INTRODUCTION

Mesothelioma is a cancer that is often—but not always—caused by inhaling various rock fibers known collectively as asbestos. The latent disease appears decades after the fibers are inhaled. Now, long after the end of the era when asbestos was used as a component in consumer products, plaintiffs who develop mesothelioma understandably look for creative ways to link their disease to some incidence of asbestos exposure in years past, and then to impose liability based on that exposure. Here they are pushing for a rule that would hold employers liable for so-called "take-home" exposures, arguing that companies that used asbestos in the workplace owe a duty not only to protect their own employees from direct exposures, but also owe a duty to protect anyone who later comes into contact with those employees. This Court should hold that, especially in the context of latent diseases with highly disputed medical origins, no such duty exists.

Plaintiff Johnny Blaine Kesner sued 19 defendants after he was diagnosed with mesothelioma. He alleged that he personally used or handled various asbestos products made by entities who are not parties to this action, and that those products contributed to his disease. But as to defendant Pneumo Abex, Kesner did not use any Abex product, nor was he present when an Abex product was used. Instead, Kesner asserted that Abex is responsible for his disease because, as a child, he was allegedly exposed to asbestos fibers on the clothing of his uncle, an Abex employee. Kesner never lived

with his uncle, but he claimed he was a regular visitor to his uncle's home in West Virginia for several years.

The trial court granted nonsuit on Kesner's negligence claim against Abex, concluding that Abex owed no duty to protect Kesner against exposure to asbestos fibers in his uncle's home. The Court of Appeal, however, disagreed with the trial court and determined that Abex owed a duty to Kesner.

This Court, in deciding whether a duty was owed, is not writing on a blank slate. Eight other state Supreme Courts have already considered the question of liability for take-home exposures to asbestos. Six out of eight have reached the same conclusion as the trial court here—that the law does not impose a duty to protect against take-home exposures. Several federal courts have agreed, as have state intermediate appellate courts, including the California Court of Appeal in three published opinions.

The collective wisdom of those decisions is that fundamental principles of public policy weigh against imposing a duty to protect against take-home exposures. Courts have emphasized the remoteness of any connection between the defendant's conduct and the plaintiff's claimed injury. And courts have cited the intolerable burden that would be placed on employers (and society) if courts were to expose employers to lawsuits from the potentially limitless pool of plaintiffs who could claim take-home exposures. Claimants could seek redress from the employer of any friend or relative that the person regularly visited decades earlier. Claimants could include waiters or bus drivers whose regular customers and passengers once worked at locations where asbestos was used. They

could also include anyone who had their own direct exposures to asbestos from sources unrelated to the employer defendant (as is true of Kesner here).

A decision permitting liability for take-home exposures would not only multiply the number of defendants in every mesothelioma case in California, but it would have a dramatic impact on cases involving lung cancer and other latent diseases. The Court of Appeal acknowledged that chemicals, fumes, and toxins other than asbestos will be implicated by the ruling. And not just California employers could be subject to the duty. Any employer anywhere could be hailed into a California court, as Abex was here in connection with its West Virginia plant, even if their plant or worksite sits in a jurisdiction where that employer legally has no duty for take-home exposures.

This Court should follow the majority rule and hold that Abex cannot be liable to Kesner. Whether the issue is viewed as a question of duty or as a question of proximate cause, established principles of public policy weigh strongly in favor of rejecting liability for take-home exposures.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1972, 10-year-old Kesner and his mother moved to Romney, West Virginia, where Kesner's aunt and uncle, Francis and George, lived. (4 AA 911-912.) During the mid-1970s, Kesner regularly visited his uncle George's home. (Typed opn. 3.) Kesner visited a few times a week as a teenager, and after he joined the

Navy in 1979, he would visit on furloughs. (4 AA 1066, 1070-1071.) "[E]very once in a while" Kesner would sleep over. (Typed opn. 3, fn. 2; 4 AA 915.) He would typically see his uncle in the mornings before heading out to school, as his uncle was arriving home after working the night shift. (4 AA 913.) They would occasionally hunt, ride motorcycles, play football and softball, roughhouse, take rides in George's car, and have breakfast. (4 AA 914-915, 1071, 1073.) He rode in his uncle's car once a week. (4 AA 915.) He did not launder his uncle's clothes. (4 AA 1069.)

Beginning in 1973, George worked at Abex's Winchester, Virginia plant. (4 AA 1058.) Kesner, however, never visited the Winchester plant, located over 40 miles from Romney across the state line. (4 AA 911, 913.) Kesner never worked with or around any Abex brake linings or other product made at that plant.

The Winchester plant made automotive brake linings, some of which incorporated chrysotile asbestos. (4 AA 932, 1058.) Beginning in the early to mid-1970s, shortly after the advent of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) and following the increasing concerns about potential health hazards of asbestos, Abex placed caution labels concerning asbestos on the packaging of its brake lining products. (4 AA 932-933, 937, 955-956.) At some point in the 1970s, Abex provided George and all other Winchester employees a written booklet describing in detail potential health hazards of asbestos. (4 AA 1075.)

Abex regularly swept and dusted the plant using manual and automated equipment. (4 AA 1079-1080.) George was aware that air samples were taken regularly, OSHA inspected the plant, and

Abex was never cited for any excessive dust violations. (4 AA 1080.) Abex maintained an industrial hygiene department and conducted its own regular air samplings of the Winchester plant to detect airborne dust. (4 AA 1094-1095.) Dust was generated by a variety of manufacturing processes, but the dust levels were generally below those mandated by federal regulations, and Abex took numerous dust suppression steps starting well before George's employment began. (4 AA 1099.) Overall, George liked Abex and spent four decades working at the Winchester plant. (4 AA 1081.)

The plant had showers for George to use, and he understood he could change clothes after his shift. (4 AA 1065, 1078.) Though he rarely changed before going home, he always dusted himself off as best he could and, upon arriving home, he always removed his shoes before entering the home. (4 AA 1065-1066.) His clothes would be somewhat dusty. (Typed opn. 3; see also 4 AA 1066 [his clothes were "a little bit" dusty].) George's wife, Francis, laundered George's work clothes. (4 AA 1069.)

In early 2011, Kesner was diagnosed with peritoneal mesothelioma, a cancer of the lining of the abdomen. (Typed opn. 2.)

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. The pleadings

Kesner filed suit in 2011 against 19 defendants, including Abex. (Typed opn. 2; 5 AA 1218-1219, 1230.) The list of defendants

included manufacturers of pumps, turbines, oil purifiers, generators, and other industrial and shipboard machinery or supplies, as well as a ship builder, suppliers of raw asbestos fiber, repair and decking contractors, and insulation suppliers and contractors. (5 AA 1218-1219.)

The complaint asserted that Kesner handled or used these defendants' asbestos-containing products, that the products were defective, and that the defendants had not warned Kesner. (5 AA 1220-1225.)

By the time of trial, Kesner had resolved his claims against his employers and the manufacturers of asbestos-containing products that he used, leaving Abex as the sole remaining defendant. (Typed opn. 3.) Kesner had originally alleged three causes of action: negligence, breach of warranties, and strict liability. (Typed opn. 2-3; 5 AA 1215, 1220, 1226, 1227.) The latter two causes of action were summarily adjudicated in favor of Abex because Kesner did not claim, and had no evidence of, exposure to any product that Abex placed in the stream of commerce. Kesner has not challenged the grant of summary adjudication, nor does he dispute that his only cause of action against Abex is a negligence claim based on alleged take-home exposure from his uncle's work at Abex.

B. The court proceedings

Shortly before the designated trial date, the Court of Appeal decided Campbell v. Ford Motor Co. (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 15

(Campbell), holding that a duty of care did not extend from premises owners to family members of workers. Abex moved for nonsuit, arguing that Campbell precluded imposing a duty of care on Abex for take-home exposures. (6/27/12 RT 4-8.) The trial court granted Abex's motion, ruling that "Abex owed no duty to Kesner for any exposure to asbestos through contact with an employee of the Abex plant in Winchester, Virginia." (5 AA 1269-1270.) The trial court entered judgment for Abex following the nonsuit. (Typed opn. 3; 5 AA 1273.)

Kesner timely filed a notice of appeal and a petition for writ of mandamus. (5 AA 1274-1280.) The Court of Appeal, First District, Division Three, consolidated the appeal with the writ proceedings. (Typed opn. 4.) On May 15, 2014, the Court of Appeal issued its opinion, reversing the judgment.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

- I. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT IMPOSE ON EMPLOYERS
 A DUTY TO PROTECT AGAINST TAKE-HOME
 EXPOSURES EXPERIENCED BY PEOPLE WHO ARE
 NEITHER EMPLOYEES NOR VISITORS TO THE
 EMPLOYER'S PREMISES.
- A. Whether to impose a duty is a question of public policy that requires analysis of multiple factors.

Both the trial court and the Court of Appeal approached the question here as one of duty—whether Abex owed a duty to protect Kesner from harm. If Abex owes no such duty, it cannot be liable for negligence. (See *Campbell*, *supra*, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 26 ["'A fundamental element of any cause of action for negligence is the existence of a legal duty of care running from the defendant to the plaintiff"].)

Duty is not "an immutable fact of nature," but rather "an expression of the sum total of those considerations of policy which lead the law to say that the particular plaintiff is entitled to protection." (Campbell, supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 26, quoting O'Neil v. Crane Co. (2012) 53 Cal.4th 335, 364 (O'Neil), emphasis and internal quotation marks omitted; accord, Hoff v. Vacaville Unified School Dist. (1998) 19 Cal.4th 925, 933 (Hoff) [impositions of legal duties are "'merely conclusory expressions that, in cases of a particular type, liability should be imposed for damage done'"].)

"The element of a legal duty of care generally acts to limit "the otherwise potentially infinite liability" that would otherwise flow from every negligent act." (Campbell, supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 31, quoting Bily v. Arthur Young & Co. (1992) 3 Cal.4th 370, 397 (Bily).) Accordingly, notwithstanding the general rule that "[e]veryone is responsible . . . for an injury occasioned to another by his or her want of ordinary care or skill in the management of his or her property or person" (Civ. Code, § 1714, subd. (a)), this Court has held that principles of public policy sometimes dictate a bright-line no-duty rule. (See Cabral v. Ralphs Grocery Co. (2011) 51 Cal.4th 764, 771 (Cabral).)

This Court has identified a variety of considerations courts should consider when determining whether a duty exists in a particular case; these considerations are commonly referred to as the *Rowland* factors. (See *Rowland v. Christian* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 108, 112-113 (*Rowland*).) Those factors include "[1] the foreseeability of harm to the plaintiff, [2] the degree of certainty that the plaintiff suffered injury, [3] the closeness of the connection between the defendant's conduct and the injury suffered, [4] the moral blame attached to the defendant's conduct, [5] the policy of preventing future harm, [6] the extent of the burden to the defendant and consequences to the community of imposing a duty to exercise care with resulting liability for breach, and [7] the availability, cost, and prevalence of insurance for the risk involved." (*Id.* at p. 113; accord, *Cabral*, *supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 771.)

Taking those factors into account, along with other considerations of public policy that arise on a case-by-case basis,

this Court has adopted bright-line no-liability rules in various circumstances, especially when the connection between the plaintiff's injury and the defendant's conduct was only indirect. (See, e.g., Verdugo v. Target Corp. (2014) 59 Cal.4th 312, 343-344 (Verdugo) [retailers have no duty of care to provide defibrillators for patrons' use in a medical emergency]; O'Neil, supra, 53 Cal.4th at pp. 362-363 [manufacturers have no duty of care to prevent injuries from another manufacturer's product, even when those injuries are foreseeable]; Hoff, supra, 19 Cal.4th at pp. 933, 937 [school districts owe no duty to non-students with whom schools have no preexisting relationship]; see also Thing v. La Chusa (1989) 48 Cal.3d 644, 661-664 (Thing) [disallowing recovery for "bystander" emotional distress except for immediate family members who witness the injury]; Elden v. Sheldon (1988) 46 Cal.3d 267, 269-276 (Elden) [disallowing recovery for an unmarried cohabitant's loss of consortium or emotional distress]; Borer v. American Airlines, Inc. (1977) 19 Cal.3d 441, 444, 447 (Borer) [disallowing recovery for a child's loss of a parent's consortium]; Baxter v. Superior Court (1977) 19 Cal.3d 461, 464 (Baxter) [disallowing recovery for parent's loss of a child's consortium].)

No one doubts that plaintiffs affected by these bright-line rules have actual, legitimate injuries. For example, the plaintiffs in Verdugo and O'Neil were suing for the death of a loved one. In Hoff, the plaintiff suffered serious physical injuries in a car accident. Thing disallowed an emotional distress claim by a mother whose son was struck by a car and seriously injured, despite the undeniable emotional distress inherent in that situation. Borer and

Baxter barred claims for loss of the comfort and society of a parent or child, despite the very real suffering in such cases. Nonetheless, on public policy grounds, this Court drew bright-line rules barring recovery for those injuries, based on the one-step-removed status of the claimant vis-à-vis the defendant's conduct.

This Court has consistently recognized that such line-drawing is absolutely necessary, even if it may produce a harsh result in a particular case. As the Court observed in *Thing*, bright-line rules are "indisputably arbitrary," but "drawing arbitrary lines is unavoidable if we are to limit liability and establish meaningful rules for application by litigants and lower courts." (*Thing*, *supra*, 48 Cal.3d at p. 666.)

B. Nationwide, a growing majority of courts have concluded that imposing a duty to protect against take-home exposures is bad public policy.

Many courts around the country have already addressed the question whether employers, premises owners, or manufacturers have a duty to protect against take-home exposures to asbestos or other substances. Most courts have concluded, regardless of the type of defendant involved, that defendants do not owe such a duty to those with whom they have no employment, invitee, or customer relationship. Six other state high courts have already held that no duty exists in these types of cases:

Delaware: Price v. E.I. Dupont de Nemours & Co. (Del. 2011) 26 A.3d 162, 170 (Price) [defendant employer owed no duty to protect employee's wife against take-home exposures to asbestos fibers];

Georgia: CSX Transp. Inc. v. Williams (2005) 278 Ga. 888, 891 [608 S.E.2d 208, 210] [defendant employer owed no duty to "a third-party, non-employee, who comes into contact with its employee's asbestos-tainted work clothing at locations away from the workplace"];

Iowa: Van Fossen v. MidAmerican Energy Co. (Iowa 2009) 777 N.W.2d 689, 696-699 (Van Fossen) [premises owner owed no duty to protect spouse of independent contractor's employee from take-home asbestos exposure];

Maryland: Georgia Pacific, LLC v. Farrar (2013) 432 Md. 523, 526-527 [69 A.3d 1028, 1031] (Farrar) [manufacturer owed no duty to protect against take-home exposure to plaintiff who claimed she was exposed to asbestos fibers that her grandfather brought home from the workplace]; see also Doe v. Pharmacia & Upjohn Co., Inc. (2005) 388 Md. 407, 419-423 [879 A.2d 1088, 1095-1097] (Doe) [employer owed no duty to spouse of employee, where employee was infected with HIV during laboratory work and transmitted virus to spouse];

Michigan: In re Certified Question from the Fourteenth Dist. Court of Appeals of Texas (2007) 479 Mich. 498, 515-526 [740 N.W.2d 206, 216-222] (Certified Question) [premises owner owed no duty to protect against take-home asbestos exposure to stepdaughter of independent contractor's employee];

New York: Matter of New York City Asbestos Litig. (2005) 5 N.Y.3d 486, 493-498 [840 N.E.2d 115, 119-122] (New York City Asbestos Litigation) [employer owed no duty to protect employee's wife from take-home asbestos exposure].¹

In addition, a majority of other courts, including federal courts applying state law, have reached the same conclusion:

- Gillen v. Boeing Co. (E.D.Pa., Aug. 26, 2014, No. 13-cv-03118-ER) ___ F.Supp.2d ___ [2014 WL 4211354, at p. *5] [applying Pennsylvania law; employer/ premises owner owes no duty to spouse of employee to protect against take-home asbestos exposures];
- Bootenhoff v. Hormel Foods Corp. (W.D.Okla., July 30, 2014, No. CIV-11-1368-D) 2014 WL 3744011, at pp. *7-14] (Bootenhoff) [slip opn.] [applying Oklahoma law; employers owed no duty to protect employee's wife from take-home asbestos exposure]
- Martin v. Cincinnati Gas and Elec. Co. (6th Cir. 2009) 561 F.3d 439, 444-446 (Martin) [applying Kentucky law; neither employer nor manufacturers owed a duty to protect employee's spouse from take-home exposures];
- Alcoa, Inc. v. Behringer (Tex.App. 2007) 235 S.W.3d 456, 460-462 (Alcoa) [employer owed no duty to protect against take-home asbestos exposure to employee's spouse];
- Rohrbaugh v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp. (10th Cir. 1992) 965 F.2d 844, 846-847 (Rohrbaugh) [applying Oklahoma law; product manufacturer owed no duty to warn spouse of product user with respect to take-home asbestos exposures].

The Illinois Supreme Court also granted review in a case raising a take-home duty question, but did not resolve the issue because it concluded that the record did not contain sufficient information to resolve the issue. (Simpkins v. CSX Transp., Inc. (2012) 358 Ill.Dec. 613, 620-621 [965 N.E.2d 1092, 1099-1100].)

One of the primary public policy considerations leading courts to adopt a no-duty rule for take-home cases is the tenuous connection between the plaintiff and the defendant. Thus, courts have been reluctant to find a premises owner liable to someone who never set foot on the premises, or impose liability on an employer for an injury to a non-employee. For example, New York's high court observed, when declining to impose a duty on employers to protect against take-home exposures, that the relationship—or lack of relationship—between the parties is the "'key' consideration." (New York City Asbestos Litigation, supra, 840 N.E.2d at p. 119.) Similarly, the Michigan Supreme Court has stated that "[t]he most important factor to be considered is the relationship of the parties." (Certified Question, supra, 740 N.W.2d at p. 211, emphasis added.) The Delaware Supreme Court found that an employer could not be liable in negligence to the spouse of its employee because no "special relationship" existed between the employer and the spouse. (*Price*, supra, 26 A.3d at pp. 169-170.)²

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