IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JOHNNY BLAINE KESNER,

Plaintiff, Petitioner, and Respondent,

VS.

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF ALAMEDA,

Respondent.

SUPREME COURT FILED

DEC 1 9 2014

PNEUMO ABEX, LLC,

Real Party in Interest.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE, NO. A136378/A136416; ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT, COUNTY OF ALAMEDA, NO. RG11578906, HON. JOHN M. TRUE III, JUDGE

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

work with asbestos," his use of others' "asbestos-containing products," or even something besides asbestos. [OB at 7, 30.]

- Negligence: A jury could find that Abex acted with due care because it "placed caution labels" on its brake products, "provided" workers with a "written booklet" about "potential health hazards," "regularly swept and dusted" its plant, was "never cited for any excessive dust violations," had an "industrial hygiene department," conducted "air samplings," and "took numerous dust suppression steps." [OB at 5-6, 31.]
- Comparative fault: A jury could assign blame to Uncle Peachy, who assertedly "was aware that air samples were taken" and that "OSHA inspected the plant, who was "provided" a hazard "booklet," and who "could" have but "rarely changed [clothes] before going home." [OB at 5-6.]

In light of these potential proof problems faced by take-home plaintiffs, the "line" between take-home victims who can recover and those who cannot draws itself. The defendants' liability ends where the evidence ends — and unfortunately many take-home victims will simply lack sufficient evidence to prevail. Thus, defendants enjoy ample factual protection from any unwarranted suit — without any need for a drastic "no duty" line from this Court.

But those take-home victims who *can* make the factual connection between their off-site exposure and a defendant's on-site negligence should be able to recover on proper proof. Indeed, *Rowland* and *Cabral* demand it. The only real "burden" faced by this category of defendants is that they may be held responsible for their very real misconduct.

In sum, contrary to Abex's claim, take-home defendants face no "intolerable burden" from refusing to carve a duty exception – nor any real burden at all.

(ii) Moral blameworthiness of conduct.

In the category of asbestos take-home cases, the defendant's conduct – allowing the asbestos hazard to be taken from its premises by unwitting workers, themselves potential victims – carries significant moral blame. Some defendants (like Ford in *Campbell*) acted with constructive knowledge of the hazard; others (like Abex here) with actual knowledge of the specific take-home hazard at its premises. In all cases, the injury threatened by asbestos exposure is *death*.

These facts warrant higher moral blame than in *Cabral*, where "[s]topping alongside the freeway" was deemed not "especially blameworthy" and "hardly a heinous act." [*Cabral*, 51 Cal.4th at 782.] Nevertheless, in *Cabral* this lesser blameworthiness did not warrant a broad no-duty exception. [*Id.*] Indeed, this Court noted that there were no "laws or mores indicating approval of the conduct [highway parking]." [*Id.*] Here, by contrast, specific "laws" indicate *disapproval* of the conduct, from California's General Safety Orders (dating to the 1930s) to OSHA's specific regulation of the take-home hazard in the 1970s. [*E.g.*, Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, §§ 2005 *et seq.*(1946 ed.); *Id.* §§ 5147- 5149, § 5155 (1972 ed.) (regulations requiring numerous precautions for asbestos work including protective gear, showers, and change facilities).]

Campbell cited this factor, stating that the "moral blame that attends ordinary negligence is generally not sufficient to tip the balance of the *Rowland* factors in favor of liability." [Campbell, 206

Cal.App.4th at 32 (quoting Adams v. City of Fremont (1998) 68 Cal.App.4th 243, 270).] Abex cites this language here. [OB at 31.]

But the next sentence of *Campbell* described factors showing a "higher degree of moral culpability," including when the defendant: (1) "had actual or constructive knowledge of the harmful consequences of behavior" – true in our category of cases; (2) acted with a "reckless indifference to the results of its conduct" – true in many cases, including as to Abex here; or (3) "engaged in inherently harmful acts" – again true as to any defendant working carelessly with asbestos products, which are as harmful as can be. [See Campbell, 206 Cal.App.4th at 32.]

Although *Campbell* listed these culpability factors showing moral blame, it never applied them, simply moving on to the "next" factors. [*Id.*] Abex simply ignores them altogether. [OB at 31.]

Instead, Abex asserts low moral blame because the "complaint" merely "alleg[es] that Abex was aware (in some undefined way) of [the] risks of asbestos exposure." [Id.] This simply ignores the evidence (on nonsuit) of Abex's actual knowledge of not only the asbestos "risks" but the specific take-home hazard posed by its Winchester plant.

In our category of cases, the moral blameworthiness of the defendants' conduct is on the high side. [See Op. at 8 ("indifference" to hazard is "morally blameworthy").]

(iii) Preventing future harm.

Refusing to immunize defendants like Abex from asbestos takehome liability will promote the policy of preventing future harm by similar defendants. As *Cabral* notes, the "overall policy of preventing future harm" is served by "imposing the costs of negligent conduct upon those responsible." [*Cabral*, 51 Cal.4th at 781.] And as the Opinion below notes, a "rule of law that holds an employer responsible to avoid injury to nonemployees who may foreseeably be harmed by exposure to toxins disseminated in its manufacturing process can be expected to prevent harm to others in the future." [Op. at 9.]

Abex, echoing *Campbell*, counters that a duty here will not prevent future harm because asbestos is "already the subject of strict regulation." [OB at 32-33; *see Campbell*, 206 Cal.App.4th at 33.]

The Opinion below answers this contention effectively. Asbestos is "not the only toxin" generated by industry, and recognizing the duty of care "serves as a warning for manufacturers creating [all] potentially dangerous products to be cautious." [Op. at 9 (quoting Clair v. Monsanto Co. (Mo.App. 2013) 412 S.W.2d 295, 309 (applying California law)).]

This factor certainly does not clearly demand a duty exception.

(iv) Availability of insurance.

The final *Rowland* policy factor is the "availability, cost, and prevalence of insurance for the risk involved." [*Cabral*, 51 Cal.4th at 781.]

The record provides no "reason to believe that manufacturers" like Abex lack "insurance to protect against their liability." [Op. at 10.]

Abex does not contest this finding or address this *Rowland* factor. [OB at 28-33.] Its only mention of "insurance" is in quoting

Campbell, which in turn quoted the following bit of twisted wisdom from Oddone:

One of the consequences to the community [of a takehome duty] is the cost of insuring against liability of unknown but potentially massive dimension. * * * [¶] Assuming for the purposes of argument that there is some risk to nonemployee persons, in a less than perfect world it appears to make more sense to look to the nonemployee person's insurance to cover the risk.

[Campbell, 206 Cal.App.4th at 33 (emphasis added) (quoting Oddone, 179 Cal.App.4th at 822–823).]

Yes, that is the application of the *Rowland* "insurance" factor on which every subsequent *Campbell*-based defense judgment rests: let the victims get their own insurance.

This cannot be a proper application of the *Rowland* policy-based analysis that this Court crafted to promote our "increasing regard for human safety."

(c) Policy: The big picture.

In sum, the *Rowland* factors do not remotely support carving a duty exception for the entire category of defendants who caused asbestos to be taken off their premises and to expose innocent offsite victims. They most certainly do not "clearly support" such a duty exception. [See Cabral, 51 Cal.4th at 771.]

As the appellate court recently noted in *Pedeferri*, California courts analyzing duty properly give "controlling weight" to policy concerns "only where the potential for tort liability directly leads to undesirable incentives or policy outcomes." [*Pedeferri*, 216

Cal.App.4th at 369.] Thus, when this Court has carved duty exceptions, it has done so to avoid *real* "undesirable" outcomes: from liability to an (actual) expansive pool of plaintiffs (*Thing*, *Christensen*, *Elden*) to attenuated liability for another's misconduct (*Castaneda*, *Hoff*, *Richards*, *Bryant*) or an uncontrollable event (*Parsons*, *Verdugo*).

Here, no such undesirable outcome exists: unless you count the defendants' "desire" not to be held responsible for terminal injuries caused directly by their negligence.

In the end, these asbestos take-home cases are no different from cases involving a hazard carried offsite by a different agent. Whether the agent is wind, water, or a worker, it is an unwitting transporter. The only difference is that, in our category of cases, that agent is himself also a victim of the defendant's misconduct.

Justice Werdegar's opinion in *Cabral* provides the punctuation mark here. In dismissing the truck driver's claim of a "heavy burden" of "potential liability," the opinion quotes the "cogent" response of the appellate court's dissenting justice: "[T]he majority asks, 'If a duty is imposed under the facts of this case, where does it end?' [Citation.] In turn, I ask: "If a duty is *not* imposed under the facts of this case, then where does it begin?" [*Cabral*, 51 Cal.4th at 784 (emphasis in original).] Although the specific *Cabral* facts – parking 16 feet off the road to have a quick snack – seemed reasonable, what about parking "six inches" off the road "to sleep for hours" and thus not "pay for a motel room?" [*Id.*] What about "an inch" from traffic,

¹³ See also Davert v. Larson (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 407, 410 (upholding duty of care when horse wandered off property and caused collision).

"on the outside of curve," staying "all night without lights? To ask these questions is to see *why a categorical exemption is not appropriate*." [*Id.* (emphasis added).]

So too here. *Campbell* involved specific facts making the landowner defendant seem reasonable: in *Cabral*'s terms, Ford was the driver parking 16 feet away for a quick snack. But *Campbell* stated a categorical duty exception that would apply to all landowners – including Abex, the equivalent of the driver parking one inch away on a dark curve. As in *Cabral*, the factual variances among takehome cases make any categorical duty exemption inappropriate.

In the big picture, public policy simply cannot demand a rule that would immunize the liability of Abex, who exposed Johnny to asbestos for almost a decade despite actual knowledge of the hazard from specific warnings that it ignored.

3. Duty cases from other jurisdictions are of little relevance – but they support affirmance.

Instead of applying California law (via the *Rowland* analysis), Abex asks this Court to follow what Abex terms a nationwide "majority rule" that "imposing a duty to protect against take-home exposures is bad public policy." [OB at 12-20.] Citing cases from various jurisdictions, Abex asks this Court to carve a duty exception in California for *all* take-home cases, "regardless of the type of defendant involved," based on the parties' pre-existing *relationship*: "defendants do not owe such a duty to those with whom they have no employment, invitee, or customer relationship." [OB at 12.]

On its face, this throwback request should be rejected. As discussed above, almost 50 years ago in *Rowland*, this Court abolished the "ancient" plaintiff classifications (including "invitee") that had determined the scope of the defendant's duty of care in negligence. In California, the parties' "relationship" is simply *not* a factor to be balanced in assessing duty. Thus, even if there was some "majority" relationship-based rule elsewhere, it would not apply in California.¹⁴

But a careful look at the out-of-state cases reveals not a "majority" rule but various rules that rest on each jurisdiction's established duty-of-care analysis. And within these rules, one relatively clear pattern emerges: states still emphasizing the parties' "relationship" find no duty; states that (like California) balance foreseeability against policy factors recognize the duty.¹⁵

Thus, in case after case cited by Abex (OB at 12-14), the state's high court found no duty because the parties lacked a pre-existing "relationship" – a critical factor in the jurisdiction:

Delaware: "[N]o duty of care exists between the parties unless a 'special relationship' between them gives rise to one." [Price v. E.I. Dupont de Nemours & Co. (Del. 2011) 26 A.3d 162, 170 (emphasis added).]

¹⁴ Nevertheless, Abex trumpets other jurisdictions' pronouncements that, in those states, the "relationship of the parties" is the "key consideration" and the "most important factor to be considered." [OB at 15 (citing New York and Michigan law).] Not so in California.

¹⁵ See Campbell, 206 Cal.App.4th at 33-34 (recognizing this authority "split"); Satterfield, 266 S.W.3d at 361 ("pattern").

Michigan: "The determination whether a legal duty exists is a question of whether the *relationship* between the actor and the plaintiff gives rise to any legal obligation" [*In re Cert. Ques. (Miller)*, 740 N.W.2d at 211 (emphasis added).]

Maryland: "Determining the existence of a duty requires the weighing of policy considerations," chiefly the "relationship (or lack of relationship) between" the parties; "this Court has focused on" the "lack of any relationship" to find "no duty to spouses of employees." [Georgia Pac., LLC v. Farrar (2013) 69 A.3d 1028, 1038-1039 (emphasis added).]

New York: "The 'key' consideration critical to the existence of a duty" is the "defendant's *relationship* with either the tortfeasor or the plaintiff"; "foreseeability" is irrelevant to "whether a duty exists." [*In re New York City Asb. Litig.* (N.Y. 2005) 840 N.E.2d 115, 119 (emphasis added).]

Iowa: No duty to family members of "independent contractor's employees" because of the "realities of the *relationship*"; "foreseeability" is "not considered." [*Van Fossen v. MidAmerican En. Co.* (Iowa 2009) 777 N.W.2d 689, 696, 698 (emphasis added).]

Georgia: Because plaintiffs "were not" the defendant's "employees," the "duty" to "furnish a reasonably safe place to work" was "not owed to them." [CSX Transp., Inc. v. Williams (Ga. 2005) 608 S.E.2d 208, 209 (emphasis added).]

But in jurisdictions where, like California, the duty hinges not on any pre-existing relationship but instead on the balancing of factors including foreseeability, courts uphold the duty of care: **Tennessee:** Policy analysis, which "favors imposing a duty of reasonable care where a 'defendant's conduct poses an unreasonable and foreseeable risk of harm to persons or property," balances numerous factors, including the "foreseeable probability of the harm or injury occurring," the "possible magnitude of the potential harm," and the "relative costs and burdens" of requiring "safer conduct." [Satterfield, 266 S.W.3d at 365.]

New Jersey: "Foreseeability is significant in the assessment of a duty of care"; "[o]nce the ability to foresee harm" is established, "considerations of fairness and public policy govern whether the imposition of a duty is warranted." [Olivo v. Owens-Illinois, Inc. (N.J. 2006) 895 A.2d 1143, 1148.]

Thus, there is no nationwide "majority rule" that should govern or even inform California law. The "no duty" jurisdictions continue to emphasize the parties' relationship – an "ancient" concept that California abandoned decades ago because it "can only lead to injustice." [Rowland, 69 Cal.2d at 119.]

As a whole, out-of-state law supports this Court's affirmance of the Opinion below by holding, consistent with almost 50 years of *Rowland* jurisprudence – and with express disapproval of *Campbell* – that no duty exception exists for any "category" of asbestos take-home cases.

¹⁶ Tennessee also echoes California duty law in declaring that the "greater the risk of harm, the less degree of foreseeability is required." [*Id.* at 365-366; *accord John B.*, 38 Cal.4th at 1194.]

4. Abex's requested no-duty rule cannot be adopted as a repackaged "proximate cause" ruling.

Finally, Abex asserts, for the first time in this case, that this Court should negate its liability not as a "duty" question but under the "proximate cause" doctrine. [OB at 33-36.] No it should not:

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